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Matter 15: Rotherham Urban Area 
 
 
LDF0078 Land off Dalton Lane and Netherfield View & 
LDF0591 Land off Magna Lane/ Dalton Lane   
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LDF: 0078 & 0591 Land off Dalton Lane 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The Site(s) 
 
Two individual sites that combined make a 9.1 hectare parcel of land that bridges the gap 
between the older settlement of Dalton Parva to the south and Dalton to the north. Both sites 
are currently in agricultural use. 
 
Both sites are currently under agricultural use. Topographically there is a sharp drop in levels 
from 60 metres above sea level at Dalton Lane in the south down to 27 metres adjacent 
Magna Lane in the north. 

 
 
 
Designated Heritage Assets Potentially Affected 
 
To the immediate south of both sites, and LDF0078 in particular, are two designated heritage 
assets namely; 

 Dalton Parva Conservation Area, designated 7th April 1976 
 175 Dalton Lane (East Farmhouse) Listed Grade II 26TH November 1987 

 

Figure 1 LDF0078 
Figure 2 LDF0591
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Analysis 
 
 

Dalton Parva Conservation Area 
 
Dalton Parva is one of three settlements that make up the parish of Dalton; the other two 
being Dalton Magna and Dalton Brook.  There has been a settlement at Dalton Parva since 
Norman times, in fact the village is listed in the Domesday Book of 1086.  Although the 
parish of Dalton is large, Dalton Parva remained a small and isolated agricultural village 
where the only industrial activity was quarrying.  It remained this way until the early 20th 
century.  In 1900 a colliery was sunk at nearby Silverwood.  This had a major impact on the 
parish and Dalton Parva until its closure in 1994.  The pit became the main employer and 
with the subsequent dramatic increase in population more housing and development was 
seen throughout the area.   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The conservation area focuses on the historic core of the village, encompassing most of the 
pre-colliery buildings.  Topographically the area occupies a beautiful ridge top location which 
lends itself to far reaching views across the valley.  Dalton Road, the main road that runs 
through the village follows the winding line of the ridge top.  Along the road are situated many 
of the older buildings in the village and it is this combination of the spectacular natural 
landscape and stone built cottages that provides this area with a special and unique 
character.   
 

Figure 1: Dalton Parva Conservation Area 
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Today there isn’t any agricultural activity in the village the buildings at East Farm have all 
been converted to residential dwellings.  The late 17th century farmhouse (grade II) maintains 
an imposing presence situated on Dalton Road, its listed status reflecting the fact that it is 
one of the most significant buildings in the village.  Equally grand and imposing are the 
village church and 138 Dalton Lane.  The church, Holy Trinity is a Victorian addition to the 
village it was built in 1849 after the formation of the new parish.  Whilst 138 Dalton Lane is an 
imposing mid-late Victorian house, although currently in a dilapidated condition, still acts as 
an impressive gateway to the village and conservation area on approach from the north.   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
With the exception of the converted farm complex at East Farm the majority of buildings are 
small houses and cottages from the 18th and 19th centuries.  They are either built in rows or 
are detached.  All are two storey with simple pitched roofs with chimneys at their gable ends, 
many have kneelers too. Sandstone is the predominant building material, but roofing 
materials vary throughout with pantiles and slate being traditional.  Interjected among the 
older properties are a number of houses dating from the 1970s and 1980s.  Most of these did 
not respect the character of the area in their design and materials and are somewhat 
detrimental to the area.   
 
Whilst a number of buildings line Dalton Lane such as 1-7 Dalton Lane others are positioned 
in a more haphazard way such as the group of cottages opposite East Farmhouse (146-154 
evens Dalton Lane).  Areas such as this and the backwater lane, The Fold, reflect as well as 
act as reminders of the village’s rural past that has long since been lost.  A further reminder 
can be found with the village pound.  A rare survivor of times before land was enclosed and 
animals were allowed to graze on common land, this pound would have held any strays until 
they were collected by their owners.  Although it is overgrown at present it is in good enough 
condition for some restoration and enhancement work to make it a feature of the area. 

Figure 2: The unlisted Holy Trinity Church 
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Although Dalton Parva is now amid a much larger residential area a rural feel is still 
maintained by the many mature trees and the green spaces throughout the area.  The 
importance of the countryside views must not be understated either.  The largest public open 
space is the tree lined avenue up to the church, but many of the smaller, sometimes unkempt 
verges contribute significantly to the character of the area, some of these spaces have 
benches to enjoy the area and the views.   
 
In an earlier review it was stated that Dalton Parva should be a ‘pearl among Rotherham’s 
conservation areas’, however, then as now, inappropriate improvements and alterations have 
undermined the character of most of the area.  Examples of such alterations include the 
widespread changing of windows for uPVC varieties, cladding and rendering of external walls 
and the use of inappropriate materials for extensions.   
 
Other detrimental factors include large areas of unkempt land, the unfinished conversion of 
138 Dalton Lane into flats/apartments and the 1970/80s housing that is not in keeping in 
style and materials. Since its designation as a conservation area in 1976 much of the original 
character has been eroded by both alterations and development.  Although originally a rural, 
agricultural village its proximity to Rotherham town has resulted in the village having a 
‘residential’ land use allocation in the development plan for the borough.  Undoubtedly this 
has and will further place additional pressure on the conservation area. 
 

 
175 Dalton Lane (East Farmhouse) 
 
A three storey Grade II listed former farmhouse built in the late 18th Century of coursed, 
squared, dressed sandstone with a Welsh slate roof. No longer in agricultural use, the 
building is a reminder of the settlements agricultural past 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Figure 3 Grade II listed East Farmhouse 
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Potential Impact 
 
As described above, the settlement of Dalton Parva and its surrounds have undergone 
drastic and fundamental changes over the last century. As the Ordnance Survey map of 
1901 shows, Daton Parva was once an isolated farming settlement. The major 
transformation has occurred in the last fifty years mainly through the construction of the large 
municipal housing estates of East Herringthorpe and Dalton. 
 
Without doubt this has had a significant effect on the character and setting of Dalton Parva 
Conservation Area. However, its ridge top location still offers key views out to the north 
towards Dalton and inwards to the south from Magna Lane.  
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Figure 4 Dalton Parva, Ordnance Survey Extract 1901
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The Landscape and Visual Impact Appraisal for the Proposed Site Allocations (EB77A) 
considers that “The landscape effect of development of these sites is likely to result in a 
moderate adverse effect with a noticeable reduction in the aesthetic and perceptual quality of 
the landscape.” 

 
Conclusion 
 
There is no doubt that the special character of Dalton Parva conservation area has been 
significantly eroded over the last fifty years, however the ridge top location and pattern of the 
road and lanes still results in a unique area of merit within the borough.   
 
It is evident that both of these sites, and in particular the site immediately to the north east of 
the Conservation Area (LDF0078), make a positive contribution to the Heritage Assets at 
Dalton Parva and that any development could potentially detract from their character and 
setting.  
 
A more detailed Heritage Impact Assessment will be essential if either of these sites is to 
come forward for allocation for residential purposes or indeed as safeguarded land 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Figure 5 View looking north east from Dalton Lane towards Magna Lane



 
 

Matter 17: Dinnington, Anston and 
Laughton Common 
 
 
LDF0251 Land between Sheffield Road and the B6059 
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LDF0251 Land at Worksop Road, South Anston 
 
 

The Site 

The site is a 3.6 HA, 
triangular parcel of land to 
the east of the settlement of 
South Anston. The parcel of 
land has well defined 
boundaries with the A57 
Worksop Road running 
along its north eastern 
perimeter, Sheffield Road to 
the south and the 
residential fringe of South 
Anston to the west. 

As the photograph below 
illustrates, the site is 
currently under grass and 
has a slope from 
approximately 116 metres 
above sea level in the south 
west of the site down to 110 
metres adjacent the 
Worksop Road. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Figure 1 LDF 0251 

Figure LDF0251 as seen from the western corner off Sheffield Road
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Designated Heritage Assets Affected by the Proposed 
Allocation 

Within a 250 metre radius of the site are three principle heritage assets namely; 

 The Church of St James, Sheffield Road, South Anston listed Grade I 29th July, 1966 
 South Anston Manor House, off Sheffield Road, South Anston listed Grade II 29th July, 

1966 
 South Anston Conservation  Area designated 9th February, 1977 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Analysis 

History and Development of the Settlement 

Anston is a large village (using the definition of a village as a single parish) but is probably 
better described as a small township. The present population is between 10,000 and 
12,000. Anston has its own parish council but most local services are provided by the 
Metropolitan Borough of Rotherham in the County of South Yorkshire. Anston is located 13 
miles east of Sheffield, 10 miles southeast of Rotherham and 7 miles west of Worksop. The 
A57 trunk road passes through South Anston.   
 
Although Anston is a single parish there are two distinct areas called North Anston and South 
Anston. Many residents prefer to use these names for their postal address rather than just 
Anston which is the official name used by the Post Office. There is sometimes confusion with 
the nearby village of Aston because of the similarity of name. 

Figure 2 The Grade II listed Manor House, Sheffield Road
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North Anston appears in The Domesday Book (1086) as Anestan and South Anston 
as Litelanstan. There is some debate as to whether this Saxon name might refer to a local 
feature known as "One Stone". Along with most settlements in the present South Yorkshire 
the first inhabitants would have been Anglo-Saxon. The lands are listed as belonging to 
Roger de Busli, a Norman knight, the lands being taken from their previous owner, Edwin (an 
Earl of Mercia), by William the Conqueror to reward his supporters. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The attraction of North Anston as a site for settlement came from the spring of water (now 
known as The Wells) in the hillside just north of the River Ryton (known locally as Anston 
Brook). South Anston is similarly located on a hillside on the south side of Anston Brook. The 
river between the two settlements was easily forded and later crossed by a stone bridge 
(Anston Bridge). The light and well-drained soil made good agricultural land. The local 
limestone rock was ideal for buildings and used not only in Anston, but also at a much later 
date for the Houses of Parliament and the Geological Museum in London in the 19th century.  

The best local example is the parish church of St James in South Anston. Its commanding 
position makes it readily visible to the approaching traveller. The oldest part of the church is 
the nave which dates from the 12th century. This was extended by the addition of the north 
aisle in the 13th century, the south aisle and the new chancel in the 14th century and the 
tower in the 15th century. The style of architecture is mainly Early English. The Victorians 
reordered the interior and added the porch. Today's generation is responsible for further 
internal reordering and for the meeting room extension. When first built the church was a 
chapel to the church at Laughton en le Morthen, which continued to make the provision of a 
chaplain until the ecclesiastical parish of Anston was formed in the 1860s. 
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Other buildings of note to be found in South Anston are the Manor House and the Methodist 
church. Some may also appreciate the Loyal Trooper pub which was once a farmhouse. In 
North Anston there is Anston Hall (now partitioned into small units) and some fine houses on 
Main Street and Hillside. Also in North Anston is The Wells, a feature restored and 
maintained by Anston Conservation Society. 

Farming and quarrying were the main activities in Anston until the development of coal 
mining in the area at the beginning of the 20th century which saw collieries open at Kiveton 
Park, Dinnington and South Anston (Harry Crofts). Railways were built to serve this part of 
the 'concealed' coalfield, with the railway to Dinnington Colliery passing through Anston 
opening in 1904. Anston's population began to increase at that time but not as rapidly as 
those village more directly affected by the collieries e.g. Dinnington. Anston's rapid growth 
started in the 1950s with the building of a large council estate in North Anston. This was 
followed by considerable private development in the 1960s onwards which eventually saw a 
4-fold increase in population. New schools, shops and pubs were built to cater for the rapid 
increase in population leading to the settlement we see today.  

Church of St James 

Whilst there has been a place of worship in Anston since at least the 12th century, the 
magnificent Grade I structure we see today was built in the 14th century with the tower and 
clerestorey dating from the 15th century. Built of ashlar and dressed limestone with a lead 
and green slate roof. The tower, built in a perpendicular style is a significant local landmark 
and has Norman stones built into the north wall of its base.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Figure 3 The western elevation with tower and lych gate taken from the junction of Sheffield Road and High Street 
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Internally, there is a beautiful and very rare 14th century effigy of a father and his daughter. 
Originally this stood outside the church but has now been relocated and stands near the font 
at the west end of the nave. Some of the pillars between the nave and the aisles have holes 
in them, now filled in, which are thought to have been caused by musket balls during the Civil 
War of the 1640’s. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Figure 4 Church of St James, north elevation, taken from Sheffield Road
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Character of the Area in the Vicinity of the PDS 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

As the aerial photograph shows, the area to the west of the site is predominantly residential 
made up predominantly of detached properties built since the 1970’s. To the south west is 
Anston Hillcrest Primary School built in the late 1960’s to meet the need for additional school 
spaces in the settlement. 

The area to the immediate west of the site, formerly a collection of abandoned agricultural 
buildings, has recently been re-developed with the construction of five detached dwellings 
(Planning Application Reference No. RB2011/0802).  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Figure 5 LDF0251 showing surrounding area 

Figure 6 Abandoned agricultural buildings off Lidsters Lane (now demolished)
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The area to the north, south and east is predominantly agricultural with significant, modern 
agricultural buildings to the south off Sheffield Road and a cemetery to the south of the 
eastern tip of the site 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Figure 7 Example of new housing built under planning permission RB2011/0802

Figure 8 Anston burial ground 
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Conclusion 
 
Development on LDF0251 would constitute an intrusive finger into the Green Belt to the east 
of South Anston. In terms of designated heritage assets any development on the site would 
have an impact on the character and setting of the South Anston Conservation Area and 
more importantly the Grade I listed Church of St James. 
 
This potential impact is clearly illustrated by figure 9 below. Taken from the edge of the A57 
Worksop Road, this is the view both pedestrians and motorists have as they approach the 
settlements of North and South Anston. The impressive spire of the church is in the middle 
distance. 
 
Without doubt, any development would detract from this key view and, therefore a change of 
allocation on this site should be strongly resisted. 

 
 

 

Figure 9 Key view looking westwards over LDF0251 towards the South Anston Conservation Area and the spire of the Grade I listed church



 
 

Matter 18: Todwick 
 
 
Representation number 163 Land at Lindleys Croft 
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PSP 163 Land at Lindleys Croft, Todwick 
 
The Site 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
A 662 square metre site off Lindley’s Croft currently used as car parking for the adjacent 
Church of St Peter and St Paul in the settlement of Todwick (see figure 1) A significant part 
of the site is under tarmac, however, as the photograph shows it is well maintained and 
landscaped, screening it from the adjacent children’s play area, also in the ownership of the 
church. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Figure 1 PSP 0163, Land at Lindley's Croft 

Figure 2 PPS 0163 seen from the junction of Lindley's Croft and Church View
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Designated Assets Potentially Affected 
 
 Within a hundred metres of the site there are two principle heritage assets namely; 
 

 The Church of St Peter and St Paul, listed Grade II* 29TH July 1986. 
 The Manor House Moated Site, A Scheduled Ancient Monument designated 21st June 

1991 
 
Both of these are significant heritage assets.  
 
 

The Church of St Peter and St Paul 
 
The origins of a church on this site possible date back to Anglo Saxon times. The current 
structure has a rubble sandstone nave dating from the 11th Century. The remainder of the 
structure is otherwise ashlar and coursed, squared limestone with the chancel and porch 
added in the 14th century and the tower in the late 15th century. The roof is constructed of 
lead and graduated slate. Notable features are the original carvings of a face and a scallop 
shell in the roof beams, the blocked devils door seen inside and out and an impressive coat 
of arms of George III.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Figure 3: The Grade II* Church of St Peter and St Paul, south elevation
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Internally, the church has Jacobean (1600s) high oak box pews and pulpit which date from 
the reign of James I. The last four pews on the south side are lower and open - it is thought 
that these were originally intended for servants! In one of the pews is a brass memorial dated 
1609. There are some fine stained glass windows, including one featuring St George and the 
dragon. In the churchyard is a large stone thought to be the original altar. 
  

Todwick Manor House Moated Site 
 
The Manor House moated site consists of an island surrounded by a largely water filled moat 
filled in and partially built over to the west and south west. Underneath the present house 
and its garden are the foundations of an old Manor House demolished in 1947. These 
remains in turn overlie those of a medieval manorial complex. Around 6000 moated sites are 
known in England. The peak period during which moated sites were built was between 1250 
and 1350 and the largest concentration lies in central and eastern parts of England. Todwick 
has not been excavated with the foundations of successive manorial complexes likely to 
survive undisturbed making the site of considerable archaeological potential. 
 

Impact on Designated Heritage Assets 
 
As the Ordnance Survey map from 1956 shows (figure 4) the immediate area around both 
the Church and the Manor House has changed significantly during the last 60 years 

particularly with the new 
housing development on both 
Church View and Rectory 
Gardens. However, the site 
under consideration and the 
adjacent play area is 
considered to be important to 
the setting of the Manor 
House and vital to the setting 
of the Church.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Figure 4 Ordnance Survey extract 1956 
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The potential development site, at its closest point, is 33 metres from the northerly elevation 
of the Grade II* listed church and, serving as the main vehicular access point, any additional 
housing development would  have a significant impact on the setting of the Church. 
 
 

Conclusion 
 
Any potential housing development on this site would be detrimental to the character and 
setting of both the Manor House Scheduled Ancient Monument and crucially the Grade II* 
listed church.  
 
Consequently any attempt to change the allocation of this site should be resisted. 
 
 
 



 
 

Matter 19: Thurcroft 
 
 
LDF0433 South of Brampton Meadows 
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LDF0433 Land South of Brampton Meadows, West of St 
Withold Avenue, Thurcroft 
 
The Site 
 

A 2.5 hectare site to the west of the 
settlement of Thurcroft to the rear of 
the gardens of residential properties on 
Brampton Meadows and St Withold 
Avenue. To the immediate west of the 
site is LDF0773 which has been the 
subject of a previous Heritage Impact 
Assessment. 
 
Currently the site is under grass and 
forms part of a much larger field which 
includes LDF0773, to the west. There 
is no discernible physical boundary 
between the two. 
 
Topographically, the site slopes from 
west to east from a height of 132 
metres above sea level down to 120 
metres adjacent the boundaries of the 
properties on St Withold Avenue. 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

Figure 1 LDF 0433 

Figure 2 LDF0433 and LDF0773 taken from the ridge line above Brampton Road looking east towards Thurcroft 
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Designated Heritage Assets Affected by any Potential 
Change in Allocation 
 
There are no designated heritage assets in the immediate vicinity of the site, however, 140 
metres to the west lies the Conservation Area of Brampton en le Morthen with its significant 
cluster of ten Grade II listed buildings (see fig below) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Brampton en le Morthen is one of the smallest conservation areas in the borough as well as 
being an area that is still characterised by agricultural activity. The area has few facilities, the 
pub, the Rising Deer, has now closed. 
 
The village was referred to as Brantone in the Domesday Book of 1086.  Despite the early 
origins of this hamlet the area is characterised by the many farmhouses, barns and cottages 
from the 17th and 18th centuries.  The architectural and historic importance of these buildings 
is recognised by fact that many within the area are listed.  The part timber frame, part stone 
jettied Manor House is a particularly fine example dating from the 16th and 17th centuries 
occupying a prominent position at the corner of Wood Lane.  The early 19th century barn at 
Town End Farm is also a very dominant building in the area.   

Figure 3 Brampton en le Morthen Conservation Area
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The majority of buildings are built from sandstone and vary in height from 1 storey farm 
outbuildings to 3 storey farmhouses.  The roofs vary, some slate, some pantile.  The majority 
are simple ridge type and most have chimney stacks at their gable ends.  The use of 
kneelers and gable copings are widespread.  The crow stepped gable at Old Hall is a 
particular notable and unusual feature. 
 
Most buildings along Wood Lane sit directly on the road side although few have their 
entrances onto the road, with exception to the pub and the Manor House.  Therefore many 
are gable end to the road thus placing emphasis on the chimney stacks.  
 
Windows have been replaced sympathetically, although uPVC is starting to be seen.  
Traditional windows should be encouraged as replacements and original windows retained.  
Yorkshire sash remain in some properties however a common window type seen in the area 
are simple single light windows of three panes. 
 
The mud on the roads and the intermittent pavement from the many farms that are still in 
operation provide the area with a unique character. Although Wood Lane has a significant 
amount of through traffic nowadays, the village changed little over the past century.  The 
village retains grass verges and boundaries are mainly denoted by stone walls many of 
which are castellated.  Boundaries are also formed by hedgerows.  That is likely to be 
ancient, denoting earlier field systems.   
 
Brampton en le Morthen has managed to retain a unique and special character.  Unlike 
neighbouring villages that expanded during the 19th and 20th centuries with the mining 
industries, Brampton has remained as a small hamlet with working farms.  Every effort must 
be made to retain this character.  Although the village is located in the Green Belt, within the 
village there are numerous in fill sites between buildings.  These spaces enable glimpses of 
the countryside beyond including the spire of the church at Laughton en le Morthen, and 
ensure that the village retains a rural and agricultural feel.  Any proposals to develop any of 
these sites must carefully consider the impact on the character of this conservation area.   
 
Although the area is generally well preserved, there are some buildings that are in a 
dilapidated condition, mainly farm buildings.  However, restoration of other buildings has 
been undermined by the use of cement based mortars and strap pointing. 
 
 

Potential Impact 
 
As mentioned above, the village of Brampton en le Morthen has managed to maintain its 
character as a well preserved agricultural village despite the rapid early 20th Century 
expansion of Thurcroft to the north east, brought about by the sinking of the colliery in 1909. 
 
The character of the village is clearly illustrated by the number of listed buildings; almost half 
of the buildings within the Conservation Area boundary are listed, albeit at Grade II. This 
represents the highest percentage of listed buildings of any Conservation Area in the 
Borough. The Conservation Area, as designated, has helped to protect the remainder, not 
least of which, the former Rising Deer pub, where attempts to demolish have been resisted. 
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The Conservation Area has key internal views, namely up and down Brampton Road (Figure 
3 above), however, the key views associated with Brampton are to be found on the edges of 
the settlement. Here views, both in and out, are of particular importance and value in that 
they reinforce the settlements rural character and its relationship with the surrounding 

agricultural landscape, thereby placing the village’s origins in context. 
 
Arguably the key view is obtained heading northwards out of the village on Brampton Road. 
Here, looking north east is a sweeping vista of agricultural land and hedgerows. The 
combined site of LDF0433 and 0773 lies behind the hedgerow on the ridge line (as illustrated 
by the red arrow) and therefore any impact on the character and setting of the Conservation 
area is currently mitigated by both topography and vegetation cover which, if maintained, will 
continue to screen any further encroachment of the settlement of Thurcroft. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

Figure 4 Key internal view of the Conservation Area looking northwards down Brampton Road 

Figure 5 Photograph taken from the northern edge of the Conservation Area looking eastwards towards Thurcroft 



5 
 

 
Conclusion 
 
In terms of impact on Designated Heritage Assets, it is considered that the potential impact 
of development of LDF0433 would be low for the reasons outlined above. However, 
development would further reduce the distance between the settlement of Thurcroft and the 
rural conservation village of Brampton en le Morthen and in turn would increase pressure to 
also develop the aforementioned LDF0773 which would have a more significant impact on 
the conservation area. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
It is difficult to see how these two sites could be looked at separately and, therefore, in view 
of the previous objections raised by Historic England to development on LDF0733, any 
development on the adjacent site LDF0433 should also be resisted. 
 
Should the possibility of development on either of these sites be pursued further, then, in 
view of the duty on the Council to preserve or enhance the character or appearance of its 
Conservation Areas, including their setting, and, to have special regard to the desirability of 
preserving the setting of any Listed Building, there will, as a minimum, be a need to 
undertake a detailed Heritage Impact Assessment, to determine the contribution these sites 
make to the character and setting of the Conservation Area and the nearby Listed Buildings 
and to further assess the significance of the possible impact on the historic setting of the 
Conservation Area and Listed Buildings . 

Figure 6: Sites to the west of LDF0433, LDF0773 



 
 

Matter 25: Aston, Aughton and 
Swallownest 
 
 
LDF0417 Land off Church Lane  
(Within Aston Hall Parkland) 
 
 



1 
 

LDF0417 Land Off Church Lane, Aston 
 
The Site 

 
A 19 hectare site, to the east 
of the settlement of Aston.  
The site is bounded by 
Church Lane to the west, the 
A57 to the east, Aston Hall 
and Worksop Road to the 
north with Aston Junior and 
Infant school to the south-
west. 
 
Topographically the site 
slopes down from 100 
metres above sea level 
adjacent the ha-ha at Aston 
Hall to 80 metres adjacent 
the A57. 
 
A public footpath runs along 
the southern boundary of the 
site to the north of the 
school. There are no public 
rights of way traversing the 
site. 

 
 

Designated Heritage Assets 
Within the village of Aston, to the immediate west of the site there are thirteen statutorily 
listed structures; 

1. Entrance Gateway and attached railings at the Lodge, Church Lane, Aston. Listed 
Grade II on 1st April, 1987 

2. South Farm House, Worksop Road, Aston. Listed Grade II 30th October, 1972. 
3. Church of All Saints. Listed Grade I 29th March, 1968. 
4. Gate Piers 12 metres to east of Church of All Saints. Listed Grade II 1st April, 1987 
5. High Trees, Church Lane, Aston. Listed Grade II 29th March, 1968 
6. The Old Coach House, Church Lane, Aston. Listed Grade II 1st April, 1987 
7. Outbuilding 15 metres to west of South Farm House, Worksop Road, Aston. Listed 

Grade II 1st April, 1987 
8. 22 and 24 Worksop Road, Aston. Listed Grade II 1st April, 1986 
9. East Wing, Coach House and West Wing, Aughton Court. Listed Grade II 29th March, 

1968. 
10. The Grange, Worksop Road, Aston. Listed Grade II 29th March, 1968 
11. The Lodge, Worksop Road, Aston. Listed Grade II 1st April, 1986 
12. . Aughton Court, Worksop Road, Aston. Listed Grade II* 29th March, 1968 
13.  Gravestone to Hill Family 5 metres to east of South Porch of Church of All Saints. 

Listed Grade II 1st April 1896. 

Figure 1 LDF0417 
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Aston Conservation Area and the History of the    

Settlement 
 
Modern Aston is a large village that has extended so it now merges with neighbouring 
areas.  The conservation area therefore focuses on the historic heart of Aston around the 
church, Church Lane and Worksop Road.  It is likely that this is the where the earliest 
settlement was in Saxon times, after all the name ‘Aston’ is derived from the old English, 
‘east tun’ and is listed in the Domesday Book (1086) as ‘Estone’.   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
One of the most striking aspects of Aston is the many prominent and significant buildings.  
These include the grade I listed Church of All Saints’ that dates from the 12th century, the 
grade II* country house, Aston Hall (Aughton Court) designed by the famous York 
architect John Carr c.1772.  There are also many grade II listed buildings and structures.  
These fine buildings certainly ensure that Aston warrants conservation area status.   
 
Although no farms are working today within the conservation area the historical 
development is clearly agricultural.  The cottages mainly date from the 18th century as do 
the larger houses, and appear to be built within plots from earlier times.  Early OS maps 
certainly show evidence of strip farming to the rear of these buildings.  Generally views 
are short and closed yet fields can be glimpsed between buildings to the north of the 
area.  
 

Figure 2: Aston Conservation Area 
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There is no predominant building type in the area, they range from small cottages to large 
country houses, stable blocks to 1920s/30s detached housing.  Brick and painted render 
is used, however many of the earliest buildings are built from sandstone and is certainly 
the predominant material used, especially in the construction of the many boundary walls 
that range in height from 1-3 metres often with rounded copings.  Building height varies 
too from 1.5 storeys to 3 with a range of roof styles, pitch, hipped and cross gabled.  
Many properties have been re-roofed with modern materials, but the traditional materials 
at Aston are clay pantiles or slate.   
 
A notable architectural feature is the use of kneelers and quoin stones, these details have 
often been replicated on many of the recent new build properties in the area. 
 
Traditionally many of the windows in the cottages would have been Yorkshire sash.  Few 
properties still retain these and those that do should be encouraged to do so.  The 
replacing of windows especially with uPVC is having a detrimental effect on the character 
of the area.  The desirability of these windows is no doubt increased by the incessant 
traffic noise along the busy Worksop Road.  This heavy traffic through the area is creating 
a noisy, polluted (dirty grass verges, buildings) area.  This pollution and subsequent 
salting of the roads in winter months is also damaging the sandstone of some buildings 
and boundary walls. 
 
Important features are the many large mature trees, most are covered by specific tree 
preservation orders and the removal of any must be considered carefully.  In addition to 
the trees, the intermittent grass verges also contribute to the area and help to ensure that 
is retains an element of its once more rural past.   
 
Another factor that detracts from the area is the poorly designed shop/business signs.  
Although not many in number their impact can be great if not designed with consideration 
for the overall character of the area. 
 
In 2005 an appraisal recommended retention as a conservation area with minor change 
to north-western boundary.  By removing the shops and car park a defined boundary can 
be created that focuses on the historic heart of the village.  The boundary to the west and 
south remains unchanged, but it is important to note that this follows the line of an 18th 
century Ha-Ha that was probably associated to Aston Hall and is still visible in parts. 
 
It was also recommended that the introduction of an Article 4 direction could be 
considered regarding the windows of Swiss Cottage at The Warren.  This building is a 
prominent and unusual building and has historical connections with Aston Hall. 
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Aston Hall and Parkland 
 
Situated on the north-west boundary of LDF0417 sits the Grade II* listed Aston Hall. Now 
used as a hotel, Aston Hall occupies a prominent hill top position enjoying commanding 
views to the south and east. It is a compact three storey house, of five bays with a central 
three window canted bay on the north and south facades and is built of local magnesian 
limestone and roofed in Westmoreland slate.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Originally the seat of the Melton family, Aston Hall passed by marriage to the Darcys of  
Hornby Castle in the mid-16th century and was sold off by the 4th and last earl of Holdernesse 
in 1774. The old Aston Hall had been demolished following a fire and rebuilt to the designs of 
the renowned architect, John Carr of York. In addition, Capability Brown was involved in the 
layout of the Park. Aston Hall was used as a hospital after the last war and was subsequently 
converted to a hotel in the 1980’s. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Figure 3 Aston Hall, principle elevation 
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The park has suffered from the encroachment of the duel carriageway to the south. Mining 
has also affected the landscape which added several extra ponds to the valley. 
 
Despite this, the house retains its original relationship with the park and can still be 
appreciated in its principle aspects much as Carr intended. 
 

Capability  Brown and the Park Setting 
 
Browns involvement at Aston is not 100% conclusive, however, the evidence is compelling. 
The park possessed the characteristics of a “Brown-scape” and there are numerous 
payments recorded to Brown during the 1750’s and 1760’s from the then owner of Aston 
Hall, Lord Holdernesse. These changes to the landscape were extensive and the 
arrangement of a series of lakes and broad lawns were eminently in Brown’s style and 
Holdernesse and Brown enjoyed an extensive professional relationship. It thus seems more 
than likely that Brown was indeed responsible for the park setting at Aston Hall. 
 
This being the case, the installation of the ha-ha around the north, east and south sides of 
the house would also have been by Brown. Brown’s use of a ha-ha emphasised the 
continuity of park and house, the smooth transition from hall to landscape. It was a regularly 
employed device (employed at Stowe, Charlcote and other Brown gardens) which preserved 
the naturalism of a garden’s relation with the broader setting, while creating an inner area 
protected from animal encroachment. The ha-ha runs around the principal sides of Aston 
Hall, the sides which could be seen from afar and which were unencumbered by the service 
wing. 
 
A clear comparison can be made between the changes to Aston Park and those to 
Holdernesse’s other Yorkshire park at Hornby. An 1806 survey of Hornby Park reveals the 
same serpentine series of lakes, smooth lawn descending to the south east and randomly 
dotted trees within the partk as occur at Aston. Brown’s mature style is evident in each 
instance. 
 
(Taken from “Aston Hall, A Historical Report by Roger Bowdler, Historic Analysis and 
Research Team, English Heritage, April 1996 which is attached as an appenix) 

 
The Church of All Saints 
 
A highly significant Grade I listed place of worship originating from the late 12th century with 
additions in the 14th and 15th centuries. Built of red sandstone and limestone ashlar with a 
lead and Welsh slate roof. 
 

History and Development of the Church 
 
About 700 AD, the people of Aston embraced Christianity and built a church; probably of 
wood and wattle. It is recorded in the Domesday Book that “a church is there, and a priest”. 
There are traces of that church beneath the present building.  After the Norman Conquest in 
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1066, the Norman Lord erected a Hall and rebuilt the church in stone.  Since then the 
building has been extended a number of times although some of the original early 12th 
century stonework remains. 

In the 13th century, the church was probably a rectangular building covering what is now the 
Nave.  There would have been a solid west wall where now there is a tower, and solid walls 
instead of the arches on either side. Narrow slits in the walls would have given a little light 
which would have reflected from the lime washed walls. The decorative stonework would 
have been coloured in red, blue and yellow paint. Rushes would have covered the earth floor 
and a patch of disturbed earth would indicate a recent burial. At the east end of the church 
(where the altar is now) there would have been an apse – a semi-circular wall with a roof like 
a dome.  The altar would have been under the dome. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The building was extended, and the side aisles built, at various times during the medieval 
period.  Because of this piecemeal extension, the piers (pillars) and the arches are in 
different styles. The south-east arch is early Gothic while the others are in Norman rounded 
style, with typical carved decorations.  The walls of the aisles would have been plastered and 
decorated with pictures or with uplifting texts.  There are fragments of these painted texts on 
the wall of the north aisle, one of which dates from 1604. It was revealed when the plaster 
was being removed from the wall in the late 20th century. 
 
The chancel was built for William de Melton, Archbishop of York and Lord Chancellor of 
England. He bought the Manor of Aston and built a Hall as residence when visiting this part 

Figure 5 The Grade I listed Church of All Saints, easterly elevation
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of his Archdiocese in 1332. The original apse was removed, the Gothic style arch 
constructed and the church extended again. This extension differs from the rest of the church 
in that the outside is faced with limestone. 

The altar was placed under the east window which is why there is a squint (an angled 
opening) to the right of the chancel arch. This gave a view of the altar from the south 
aisle.  The 19th century Sanctuary Lamp still hangs over where the altar was situated before 
it was moved in 1957.  The chancel was built with two doors.  One was used by the clergy (it 
now leads into the choir vestry).  The other door was the Lord of the Manor’s entrance, with a 
path across the graveyard to the 16th century gateway to Aston Hall.  The lord’s entrance 
gave access to his private pew, which was just to the east of the squint.  It had its own 
fireplace, which was discovered when the wall by the squint was replastered in the 1990s. 

After the chancel was built, the east end of the south aisle became a Lady Chapel and in 
medieval times an altar stood against the wall. There is a piscina (stone basin used for 
washing the Communion vessels) built into the south wall. The Lady Chapel was a favoured 
burial place and a number of Rectors are buried there.  At the opposite side of the building 
(the east end of the north aisle – where there is now a door into the choir vestry) was the 
Melton family’s Requiem Chapel. 

The porch was constructed in the 14th century. The badly eroded figures on either side of the 
entrance are effigies of King Edward III and Queen Phillipa. This dates the porch to no later 
than 1369 – the year the Queen died.  A 1900 newspaper reported that the carvings were in 
near perfect condition but the acid rain later in the 20th century has almost obliterated 
them.  It is probable that the stone benches were used when teaching children, before the 
village had a school. 

The tower was erected sometime between 1350 and 1450. It is part of the Melton additions 
to the church. The tower is about eighty feet in height and overlooks all the other buildings in 
the Parish. It has had many uses over the centuries.  In its early days it provided a look out 
and refuge in times of trouble: flattened musket balls found outside its walls are evidence of 
that.  It was also used as a temporary gaol to hold people awaiting trial.  In around 1552 
there were six bells in the tower: the surviving bell-rope holes indicate that the bells were 
swung.  Unfortunately the foundations are not very solid and swinging the bells also rocked 
the tower. There are now just three bells, two of which date from 1784.  One of them is 
connected to the Parish clock and strikes the hours. The clock is weight powered and 
requires winding two or three times each week.  In the mid-20th century, mining subsidence 
caused the tower to tilt away from the nave and that stopped the pendulum from 
swinging.  Later the tower tilted back to the perpendicular and the clock became operational 
again. 

By the 18th century, the building had assumed its present shape.  In 1771 oak pews were 
fitted to wooden flooring; these pews remained in use for over 200 years, until they were 
replaced by the current pews which came second hand from Holy Trinity Church in 
Rugby.  In about 1790, a gallery was erected in the base of the tower. It lasted about 90 
years and during that time it was used by musicians, provided space for additional seating 
and was home to a barrel organ.  At that time there was an ornate wooden screen dividing 
the tower from the nave. 
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The Victorians added what is now the choir vestry.  For many years it housed a small pipe 
organ, but in 2001 this was removed and replaced with the present electronic instrument. 

The most recent addition to the church is the Narthex, which was built in 1989 and is reached 
through a new oak door in the north wall.  It provides a toilet, kitchen and a meeting room. 

There are a number of memorials in the church to Lords of the Manor, and from them it is 
possible to trace the families which held the estate.  On the left side of the chancel arch is a 
brass memorial to Sir John Melton (the last Melton Lord of the Manor), and his coat of arms. 
He died during the reign of King Henry VIII. 

Dorothy Melton inherited the estate and married a George Darcy. The Darcys resided in 
Aston for many years and the last of them, Good Sir John, inherited the Manor in 1602. He 
married four times: there are effigies of him and his first three wives on the north wall of the 
chancel.  He was left without an heir and his fourth wife outlived him.  She married Sir 
Francis Fane and continued to live in Aston. The monument to their ‘many sonnes and 
daughters’ is on the south wall of the chancel. 

The last Lords of the Manor were the Verelsts.  Harry Verelst succeeded Clive of India as 
Governor of Bengal, and when he retired he first rented and then bought the Manor in 
1770.  Only a year later- on Christmas Day 1771 – the old Aston Hall burned down.  One 
stained glass window was salvaged, and installed in the church in the Lady Chapel.  It 
depicts the Arms of the Darcy family (and families related by marriage).  There are brass 
plaques in memory of later members of the Verelst family on the screen in the tower.  In 
1928 the Manorial Estate was divided up and sold off – the Aston Hall being converted to a 
women’s mental hospital.  It is now the Aston Hall Hotel. 

The Font 

The font dates from about 1400. It was moved from under the tower to its present location in 
1957. The carved figures on the base are thought to represent King Herod, intent on killing 
the baby Jesus and a guardian angel warning Joseph to flee with the Holy Infant to Egypt. 

William Mason 

Mason was probably Aston’s most famous Rector.  There is a monument to him in the 
chancel and a much grander one in Westminster Abbey’s Poets Corner.  He was appointed 
(by Robert Darcy, the Fourth Earl of Holdernesse) in 1754, and remained for 43 years.  He 
was responsible for building the Old Rectory (which still survives – the large building opposite 
the church entrance).  Amongst his visitors to the Rectory were Horace Walpole, and his 
close friend the poet Thomas Gray, who penned ‘Elegy in a Country Churchyard’.  On the 
south wall of the church are two plaster reliefs, commemorating Mason and Gray, which 
were originally in the summer house of the Rectory. 

On the north side of the Sanctuary is a 19th century copy of a 4th century Florentine relief of 
the Madonna and Child. The other two parts of this work are in a St Petersburg museum. 
There are chairs in the Sanctuary from the 16th, 17th, 18th and 19th centuries. The altar, 
which may date from Saxon times, was about two feet wider than it is now. During the 
Edward VI purges the stone altar top was taken out of church and hidden to prevent its 
destruction.  It was rediscovered (broken in two) in the churchyard in 1957. 
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On the wall of the tower are large boards recording charitable bequests. By today’s 
standards the amounts seem trivial but when they were made, a worker was earning about 
£10 a year. Much of the original investments were lost but Aston Charities still aids needy 
parishioners and local groups. (Kindly reproduced from the All Saints, Aston cum Aughton 
website) 

Conclusion 
 
Aston Hall was a house to be seen from a distance and from which a prospect of the distant 
Derbyshire hills could be enjoyed. The impressive Grade I church tower added to the 
picturesque incident of the hill crest. 
 
Aston Hall deserves its  II* grade on a number of counts. It is a characteristic, small-sized 
country house by Yorkshire’s leading 18th century architect. It was built for an eminent client, 
and rapidly passed into the ownership of a man of historical interest in his own right. Its 
commanding hilltop setting endows it with considerable presence and underscores the 
importance of the Darcy family, its builders. 
 
Despite the encroachments of modern roads, the park, to the layout of which strong 
connections with Capability can be adduced, still retains its original configuration to a large 
extent and still sets off the house to advantage. The principle elevations are the north, the 
east and the south. The most important view of the house is from the south east, in which 
direction the park descends. 
 
Any encroachment upon these areas would have a damaging effect on the character and  
setting of Aston Hall, the Church of All Saints and the Aston Conservation Area alike.  
 
For this reason any development on LDF0417 should be strongly resisted. 


























































